SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 13 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

GEORGE MELENDEZ, et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

SAN FRANCISCO BASEBALL ASSOCIATES, LLC

Defendant and Respondent.

COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 3 CASE NO. A149482 SAN FRANCISCO SUPERIOR COURT, No. CGC-13-530672 HONORABLE CURTIS E.A. KARNOW

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Dennis F. Moss SBN 77512 15300 Ventura Blvd., Suite 207 Sherman Oaks, CA 91403 Telephone: (310) 773-0323 Facsimile: (310) 861-0389

dennis@dennismosslaw.com

Sahag Majarian II SBN146621 18250 Ventura Boulevard Tarzana, CA 91356 Telephone: (818) 609-0807 Facsimile: (818) 609-0892

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

"Whether plaintiffs' statutory wage claim under Labor Code section 201 requires the interpretation of a collective bargaining agreement and is therefore preempted by section 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act." (Order Granting Petition for Review)

II. INTRODUCTION

This case is about vindication of an important public policy of the State of California that has existed for over 100 years, the policy requiring prompt payment of earned wages to working men and women who find themselves out of work. See *Smith v. Superior Court* (*L'Oreal*) (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77. It has nothing to do with collectively bargained rights and obligations.

Given the text and Legislative history of Labor Code §§ 201, 203 and 219, and this Court's decision in *Smith*, *supra* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, collectively bargained rights and obligations cannot undermine the protections individual employees enjoy in California to prompt payment of wages owed when their employers release them from work whether by layoff or permanent discharge.

The unwaiveable statutory wage claims Plaintiffs assert do not require interpretation of a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA");

and therefore the Court of Appeal's finding of LMRA section 301 (29 U.S.C. §185) preemption is not warranted.

In *Smith, supra*, 39 Cal.4th 77, this Court provided the roadmap for interpretation and application of the word "discharge" as it appears in Labor Code § 201, logically and painstakingly applying tenets of statutory construction. *Smith, supra* passim.

This Court in *Smith* ultimately found that the purpose of Labor Code §§ 201 and 203 is to compel the prompt payment of wages to people released from employment irrespective of whether they were fired from long term employment or released from a one-day assignment. The nature of the hiring or work relationship was a non-issue, immediate payment of wages is required when periods of employment end. *Smith*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at 92.

The Court of Appeal opinion herein ignored the letter and intent of Labor Code §§ 201 and 203, as found in *Smith*, *supra*. The opinion adopted the position that preemption was warranted because, irrespective of the needs and out of work status of employees released from work addressed by the Legislature in Labor Code § 201, the nature of the relationship at hiring was of paramount importance. To discern what that relationship is, the Court of Appeal then found the

CBA must be interpreted. Slip Op. pg.7-8. It took this position in a context where nothing in the Agreement was in dispute and had to be interpreted, and where given *Smith*, *supra*, the CBA was irrelevant.

Had the Court of Appeal paid close attention to the letter and purpose of Labor Code § 201, and followed *Smith, supra*, 39 Cal.4th 77, resort to the CBA would not have been required.

The lesson of *Smith* is that releases from employment, whether permanent or temporary, are "discharges" irrespective of the nature of the initial hiring or an ongoing CBA relationship. Release from work into the ranks of the unemployed through layoff or permanent termination is the key factor in analysis and application of Labor Code § 201, not the undisputed text or fact of a CBA.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

George Melendez, as well as those he seeks to represent, have worked intermittently for the Respondent San Francisco Baseball Associates LLC ("the Giants") for years. Mr. Melendez worked as a security guard. The Giants' guards, and other stadium employees are paid from several days to up to two weeks after the end of each period of intermittent employment. (Operative Complaint AA 0135-0137, and 0140).

Nothing in the record refutes the foregoing allegations. There is no evidence establishing that laid off employees are paid the wages owed to them immediately upon layoff, whether a layoff lasts several weeks or months. ¹

Melendez filed a class action complaint on November 25, 2015, and a First Amended Complaint on January 13, 2016 ("Complaint"). The Complaint asserts statutory claims on behalf of a class of all persons who have been intermittently employed by the Giants for limited duration assignments, claiming their wages, when they are periodically released from such assignments, are not timely paid. (AA 135-142) The class definition embraces all intermittently employed stadium workers, not just security guards.

The Complaint contains two causes of action: (1) A Class Claim for Violation of Labor Code § 201, seeking penalties pursuant to Labor Code § 203; and a (2) Claim for Penalties under PAGA Labor Code §§ 2698 and 2699, as a private attorney general. (AA0134-142).

The Complaint alleges, in relevant part:

¹ Contrary to the suggestion in the Court of Appeal Opinion (Slip Op. p.7), Plaintiffs have never asserted there is a layoff at the conclusion of each baseball game.

- "1. This case arises out of the failure of defendant San Francisco Baseball Associates, LLC ("San Francisco Giants") to pay intermittently employed individuals immediately upon discharge from employment periods of limited duration.
- 2. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 201 and Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, the San Francisco Giants employ a number of person (across of variety of job classifications) intermittently during the baseball season and throughout the rest of the calendar year. Defendants are required to pay such persons immediately at the end of each limited duration assignment. Defendants, in violation of Labor Code Section 201 paid these employees late, typically between five (5) and fifteen (15) days late. For himself and other similarly situated intermittent employees of the San Francisco Giants. **Plaintiff** seeks damages for continuation wages under Labor Code Section 203.
- 3. The San Francisco Giants' non-compliance with Labor Code Section 201 manifests itself in no less than three (3) ways. (1) At the end of the baseball season Defendants do not pay intermittently employed persons on the last day they work during the season. (2) During the baseball season, Defendants do not immediately pay intermittently employed employees on the last day they work during a home-stand. (3) Between baseball seasons, when intermittently employed persons are employed for events such as concerts, college football games, theatrical performances, fan appreciation days, a run of Cirque du Soleil shows, etc., Defendants do not immediately pay intermittently employed employees at the end of their work at these events.

- 16. Plaintiff and other members of the Class were "discharged" at the end of each period of intermittent employment within the meaning of Labor Code Section 201 (Smith v. Superior Court, supra).
- 17. Pursuant to Labor Code Sections 201, the San Francisco Giants owed to Plaintiff and members of the Class immediate payment of their final wages at the time

of each discharge. The immediate payment of said wages was due when the Giants discharged intermittently employed person (e.g. Plaintiff and the Class) at the end of a homestand, at the end of a baseball season, at the end of an inter-season event like a fan fest, college football game, a concert, a series of shows, or other events.

- 19. Defendants' failure to pay Plaintiff and members of the Class wages in accordance with Labor Code Sections 201 was willful. Defendants had the ability to pay final wages in accordance with Labor Code Sections 201, but intentionally adopted policies or practices incompatible with the requirements of Labor Code Section 201.
- 20. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 203, Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to continuation of their wages, from the day of each discharge they experienced until the wages were paid, up to a maximum of thirty (30) days per discharge. "²

The guards are represented by a union that has a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") with the Giants. (AA 0160-176) The CBA gives the Giants absolute discretion in scheduling guards (AA 0165 Section 8). There is no provision in the CBA that addresses the timing of wage payments to laid off workers or otherwise. There is no dispute over the meaning of any terms in the CBA, nor over Respondent's position that there is an ongoing relationship between

As used in the complaint, a "discharge" from a period of intermittent employment was meant to represent temporary and/or indefinite layoffs that occur for vast numbers of employees when the baseball season ends, when home stands are over, and when off season events end.

the Giants and the employees covered by the CBA, even when those employees are laid off, not gainfully/actively employed by the Giants.

The Giants in their Opening Brief in the Court of Appeal acknowledged that, given the intermittent nature of stadium work, there are periods when guards in the putative class will not be scheduled for work, will be laid off in fact:

"While the CBA gives certain employee classifications scheduling priority, it does not require that the Giants schedule any employee to work any specified number of hours, days, weeks, or months, or any specific number of games, homestands or seasons. ³

The facts will show that the Giants have exercised their discretion under the scheduling provisions of the CBA to not schedule Melendez (or other security guards) to work when AT&T Park is closed." AOB Ct. of Appeal. 25-26, 28.

A. Trial Court Proceedings

The Giants moved to compel arbitration arguing that Melendez was required to arbitrate his statutory claims pursuant to the arbitration provisions of the CBA. The motion separately claimed preemption applied pursuant to LMRA section 301 (29 U.S.C. §185). (AA 0091-0176)

³ This conforms with practical reality. A baseball game with 40,000 fans is going to need more security guards at work than a private wedding at the stadium in the off-season when there may be only 400 guests.

Following a hearing, the trial court issued a written ruling denying the Giants' motion to compel arbitration. (AA 0255-0259) The court first found that the claims in the Complaint that statutory rights had been violated were not subject to the CBA's arbitration provisions:

"[There is no language in the agreement [CBA] requiring arbitration of the claims in this case. The CBAs here require arbitration of claims involving the application or 'alleged violation of any of the terms of the Agreement' ... The suit here claims a violation of state statutes not a violation of the CBA." (AA 0255).⁴

On the preemption issue, the Superior Court found, inter alia:

"Allis-Chalmers Corp. v. Lueck, 471 U.S. 202, 211 (1985) makes the point that 'not every dispute or tangentially involving concerning employment, provisions of a collective-bargaining agreement, is preempted by § 301 or other provisions of the federal labor law.' There is no 'suggestion that Congress, in adopting § 301, wished to give the substantive provisions of private agreements the force of federal law, ousting any inconsistent state regulation.' Id. at 212. 'Clearly, § 301 does not grant the parties to a collective-bargaining agreement the ability to contract for what is illegal under state law. In extending the pre-emptive effect of § 301 beyond suits for breach of contract, it would be inconsistent with congressional intent under that section to preempt state rules that proscribe conduct, or establish rights and obligations, independent of a labor contract.' Id." (AA0256)

⁴ The Court of Appeal agreed with this ruling. (Slip Op. p. 4-5)

The Trial court then quoted the United States Supreme Court opinion in *Livadas v. Bradshaw* 512 U.S. 107, 123 (1994):

"In Lueck and in Lingle [] we underscored the point that § 301 cannot be read broadly to pre-empt nonnegotiable rights conferred on individual employees as a matter of state law, and we stressed that it is the legal character of a claim, as 'independent' of rights under the collective-bargaining agreement [citation] and not whether a grievance arising from 'precisely the same set of facts could be pursued [citation] that decides whether a state cause of action may go forward'." (AA0256)

On the "interpretation" issue raised by Section 301 preemption, the trial court found that Defendants' papers do not demonstrate that resolution of the state law claim requires interpretation of the CBA. (AA O255). Further the trial court stated:

"Finally, I note the Ninth Circuit's cautious wielding of the interpretation requirement: there is no preemption unless the use of the CBA is more than just a consideration or reference to the CBA:

'We have stressed that, in the context of § 301 complete preemption, the term "interpret" is defined narrowly---it means something more than "consider", "refer to", or "apply". 'Balcorta v. Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp., 208 F.3d 1102, 1108 (9th cir. 2000)." (AA 0257)

The Giants timely appealed.

B. Decision of The Court of Appeal

The Court of Appeal acknowledged the parameters of preemption doctrine, citing Levy v. Skywalker Sound (2003) 108

Cal.App.4th 753, 762-769 for the proposition that for Federal preemption to apply the need to interpret the CBA must inhere in the nature of the plaintiff's claim. Slip Op. at 5.

However, the Court then found, apropos to the issue posed in the grant of review here, "While resolution of the controversy may not turn on the interpretation of any specific language in the CBA, it does not follow that the meaning of the CBA is irrelevant to the outcome of the dispute."

Without assessing Legislative intent, the Court then found that reference to the CBA was necessary to determine whether employees were "discharged". The Court set up an irrelevant dichotomy. The Court found that "discharge" under the Code turned on an answer to the question of whether employees were hired into a long-term relationship, or alternatively, were separately hired after layoffs each time they received a new assignment? (Slip Op. p. 7-8). To answer the irrelevant question it posed, the court then took the position that resort to the CBA was necessary.

The Court of Appeal found that if guards were initially *hired* for periods of time that extended beyond the layoffs they experienced, they were not "discharged" when laid off. The Court then concluded

that since determining the nature of the initial hiring will necessarily entail review of the CBA, preemption is warranted. Slip Op. 7-9.

Emphasizing an ongoing CBA relationship between out of work guards and the Giants, the Court of Appeal failed to consider whether, as a matter of law, "layoffs" experienced by the guards are "discharges" irrespective of any long term contractual relationships that remained in effect between the Giants and their out of work employees.

Pursuant to the Court of Appeal decision, a CBA that contemplates an ongoing relationship between laid off worker and their employers can trump Labor Code § 201's policy for dealing with the harsh reality of unemployment. As will be demonstrated infra, the premise upon which the Court of Appeal position relies is inapplicable to the analysis this case requires. "Layoffs" are a form of discharge under Labor Code § 201 irrespective of any relationship between the laid off employees and their employers; therefore, resort to a CBA to determine the nature of that relationship is completely unnecessary.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

 Labor Code § 219 and applicable precedent preclude waiver of the rights created by Labor Code § 201.

- 2. Only when interpretation of a collective bargaining agreement is required, does LMRA 301 preemption apply to a statutory claim. Interpretation of a CBA is not required here.
- 3. Interpretation of the CBA is not required in this case because:
 - A. None of the CBA provisions are in dispute and the CBA is irrelevant to the outcome of this case.
 - B. The reference to "layoffs" in § 201 makes clear that "layoffs are form of "discharge.
 - C. The statutory scheme, the purpose of the law, and the meaning of "layoff" support the conclusion that the term "discharge" as used in Labor Code § 201 contemplates "layoffs" as a form of discharge irrespective of CBA terms.
 - D. With "layoffs" a form of "discharge", and the periodic releases from employment experienced by the Giants' stadium workers, by definition, "layoffs", there is no cause to interpret the CBA.
 - E. The holdings and rationale of *Smith v. Superior Court* (L'Oreal) (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77 are dispositive.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Labor Code § 201 Rights Cannot Be Waived.

In determining whether interpretation of the CBA is required in this case, recognition of the inability of parties to a CBA to alter the rights created by Labor Code § 201 is a necessary starting point.

Labor Code § 201 provides in relevant part: that "If an employer discharges an employee, the wages earned and unpaid at the time of discharge are due and payable immediately...."

Pursuant to Labor Code § 203, an employer's willful failure to pay wages to a "discharged" employee in accordance with § 201 subjects the employer to penalties.

Labor Code § 219 provides that the rights and obligations set forth in the foregoing sections cannot be altered by agreement:

"[N]o provision of this article [which includes Labor Code § § 201 and 203] can in any way be contravened or set aside by a private agreement, whether written, oral, or implied." See also *Balcorta v. Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp.*, 208 F.3d 1102, 1112 (9th Cir. 2000), and *Livadas v. Bradshaw*, 512 U.S. 107, at 110 (1994).

⁵ Both the 9th Circuit decision in *Balcorta*, *supra*, 208 F.3d 1102, and the Supreme Court decision in *Livadas*, *supra* 512 U.S. 107 addressed issue

Even if Labor Code § 219 had never been enacted, the Giants and the guards' union could not contract around the rights created by §§ 201 and 203:

"'Under settled Supreme Court precedent, '[LMRA section] 301 does not grant the parties to a collective-bargaining agreement the ability to contract for what is illegal under state law.' [Citations.]' Cramer v. Consolidated Freightways, Inc., 255 F.3d 683, 695 (9th Cir.2001)." Sciborski v. Pacific Bell (2012) 205 CA 4th 1152, 1172.

B. LMRA Section 301 "Interpretation" Preemption Does Not Apply Absent A Genuine Need to Interpret a CBA

The issue as posed by this court in granting review asks whether the CBA between the Giants and the guards' union needs to be interpreted in order for there to be a determination of whether the statutory rights afforded by Labor Code § 201 have been violated.

While it is true that to further the goal of uniform interpretation of CBA's, the preemptive effect of LMRA Section 301(29 U.S.C. § 185) has been extended beyond suits that allege the violation of collective bargaining agreements, the breadth of that extension is limited.

arising from application of Labor Code § 201 in collective bargaining agreement contexts.

Allis-Chalmers Corp. v. Lueck, 471 U.S. 202, 210–11 (1985) provides: "The interests in interpretive uniformity and predictability that require that labor-contract disputes be resolved by reference to federal law also require that the meaning given a [CBA] contract phrase or term be subject to uniform federal interpretation".

Thus, a state law claim will be preempted if it is so "inextricably intertwined" with the terms of a labor contract that its resolution will require judicial interpretation of those terms. *Id.* at 213.

In this matter, the rights of guards under Labor Code § 201 are not "inextricably intertwined" with the terms of the CBA. The interests of interpretive uniformity and predictability that require labor-contract disputes be resolved by reference to federal law are simply not involved in the adjudication of the immutable statutory rights at issue here.

"If the claim is plainly based on state law, § 301 preemption is not mandated simply because the defendant refers to the CBA in mounting a defense." Cramer v. Consolidated Freightways, Inc., 255 F.3d 683, 691 (9th Cir.2001) (en banc), cert. denied 534 U.S. 1078 (2002).

Nor can a defendant invoke preemption merely by alleging a

"hypothetical connection between the claim and the terms of the CBA," or a "creative linkage" between the subject matter of the suit and the wording of the CBA. *Id.* at 691–92. To prevail, "the proffered interpretation argument must reach a reasonable level of credibility." *Id.* at 692. "'[L]ook[ing] to' the CBA merely to discern that none of its terms is reasonably in dispute does not require preemption." *Id.* quoting *Livadas*, 512 U.S. at 125.

In *Cramer*, the Ninth Circuit clarified the scope of the LMRA's preemptive effect as follows:

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