S245607

JUL 1 2 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE

Deputy

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

GEORGE MELENDEZ, et al., Plaintiffs and Petitioner,

٧.

SAN FRANCISCO BASEBALL ASSOCIATES, LLC Defendant and Respondent,

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. A149482

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP NANCY PRITIKIN (SBN 102392) BABAK YOUSEFZADEH (SBN 235974) KARIN DOUGAN VOGEL (SBN 131768) BRIAN S. FONG (SBN 262846)

Four Embarcadero Center, 17th Floor

San Francisco, California 94111-4109

TELEPHONE: 415.434.9100

FACSIMILE: 415.434.3947

EMAIL: npritikin@sheppardmullin.com EMAIL: byousefzadeh@sheppardmullin.com

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Notwithstanding his arguments to the contrary, Melendez does not seek application of *Smith*. Instead, he is asking this Court to sidestep *Smith*, and create new and unsupported law redefining "discharge." The Court should decline to do so. Applying *Smith's* definition of discharge, and the well-established standard for Section 301 preemption, Melendez's claims must be compelled to arbitration under the parties' CBA.

A. The Court Should Apply *Smith*'s Definition of Discharge Rather Than Adopt Melendez's New Unfounded Definition

While Melendez purports to fit his claims within *Smith's* holding on contractual discharge, he nonetheless argues that his employment terms, including whether he was hired for a specific job assignment or time duration, are irrelevant to any finding of contractual discharge. (See, e.g., AOB at pp. 6, 41 ["Nothing in *Smith* suggests *it is essential* to determine whether the Giants' employees are only hired for a season, homestand, or

¹⁰ Given there are hundreds of non-baseball-game events at AT&T Park per year, it is common to have several such events each week, and sometimes even multiple events on the same day.

other event, rather than hired for extended employment from year to year, or season to season with periodic layoffs."] [emphasis in original].) Indeed, Melendez seems to propose that the Court can only look at the passage of an (as yet undefined) time period between his scheduled shifts to determine there has been an automatic "layoff," and then equate all such time off as "discharges." He is wrong on both counts.

Initially, *Smith* never finds, or even suggests, that time between scheduled work days during ongoing employment could constitute a "layoff." Further, *Smith* never suggests that a plaintiff could uncouple "discharge" from the terms of the parties' agreement—or calculate layoffs or discharges by merely establishing an arbitrary number of allowable days between scheduled shifts. On the contrary, *Smith* repeatedly, and logically, links contractual discharge to the contractual terms "for which the employee was hired." (See, e.g. *Smith*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 84–85, 86, 91, 93–94.) ¹¹ Thus, Melendez's argument, that he is temporarily laid off dozens of times per year during ongoing employment—despite remaining

^{11 (}Smith, supra, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 93-94 [discharge occurs where "an employee is released after completing the specific job assignment or time duration for which the employee was hired."]; accord id. at pp. 84-85 ["...particularly as to cases where an employer hires an employee for a specific job assignment..."]; id. at p. 86 ["Notably, these exceptions pertain to situations anticipating the employees will complete the particular job assignment or period of service for which they were hired."]; id. at p. 91 ["an employer effectuates a discharge within the contemplation of sections 201 and 203, not only when it fires an employee, but also when it releases an employee upon the employee's completion of the particular job assignment or time duration for which he or she was hired."] [all emphasis added]; accord Jappa v. California (S.D.Cal. Jan. 8, 2009, No. 08cv1813 WOH (POR)) 2009 U.S.Dist.Lexis 1194, at *21-22 [there was no claim under Labor Code section 203 because plaintiff failed to allege she was hired to perform a specific task for a specific duration, and that the job assignment or time duration for which she was hired was complete].)

employed pursuant to the CBA, scheduled for continued work under its terms, and on the Giants' payroll—does not fit within *Smith's* holding.

To avoid preemption, Melendez instead advocates for a *new* type of discharge under Labor Code section 201. Under Melendez's theory, an employee who retains an ongoing employment relationship is still "laid off" (and thus discharged) either: (1) after an arbitrary number of days has passed between his scheduled shifts, 12 or (2) after completing any intermediate job assignment or time duration, regardless of the duration of his employment or ongoing scheduled work as agreed to by the parties' employment agreement. This request, for the creation of an automatic "layoff" during ongoing employment, is a drastic deviation from, and expansion of, the definition of discharge as set forth by *Smith*. An employee cannot be simultaneously discharged under statute while continuing to remain continuously and gainfully employed by contractual agreement.

The Court should decline such a far-reaching change in the definition of discharge under Labor Code section 201. Neither the statutory scheme of the Labor Code governing timely wage payments, nor the legislative history of Labor Code sections 201 through 204 support such a change. Moreover, none of Melendez's stated public policies supports it. Finally, none of the authorities he cites, including the DLSE's guidance, supports his theory.

¹² Melendez has never offered an actual or consistent proposal for what this arbitrary number may be to trigger a temporary layoff. Based on his briefs to date, he seems to propose that anything from one day (e.g., two concerts on consecutive days between baseball seasons), to "weeks," "a few weeks," or "months" could constitute a layoff or discharge. (AOB 41–42; AA 185–186; accord Respondent's Appellate Brief at 31.)

1. The statutory scheme for timely wage payments distinguishes between employment that is ongoing and that which has ended, refuting Melendez's proposed expansion of the law

California has a public policy regarding prompt payment of wages, which "has been expressed in the numerous statutes regulating the payment, assignment, exemption and priority of wages." (Kerr's Catering Service v. Department of Industrial Relations (1962) 57 Cal.2d 319, 325.) This public policy manifests itself in different ways depending on whether a worker's employment is ongoing or has ended. (Davis v. Farmers Ins. Exchange (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 1302, 1331 ["The Labor Code's protections are 'designed to ensure that employees receive their full wages at specified intervals while employed, as well as when they are fired or quit'."], quoting On-Line Power, supra, 149 Cal.App.4th at p. 1085.) "The chapter of the Labor Code governing compensation and payment of wages includes provisions requiring immediate payment of wages upon discharge, layoff or resignation (Lab. Code, §§ 201, 202), [and] requiring regular payment of wages [during employment] (Lab. Code, § 204)." (Davis, supra, (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 1331.)

When employment ends, this Court has observed, "[t]he prompt payment provisions of the Labor Code impose certain timing requirements on the payment of final wages to employees who are discharged (Lab. Code, § 201) and to those who quit their employment (§ 202)." (*McLean*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 619.) "The Legislature's apparent purpose in enacting the prompt payment provisions was to ensure that employers make prompt payment of final wages upon the *termination of the employment* of a person who does not have a contract for a definite period—whether the employment is terminated involuntarily, by discharge (§ 201), or voluntarily, by quitting (§ 202)." (*Id.* at p. 622 [emphasis added].) Thus,

the Legislature has deemed fit to apply the protections of Labor Code sections 201 through 203 at the end of the employment relationship.

By contrast, however, the Legislature established a different set of protections for employees engaged in ongoing employment, for whom prompt wage payments are solely governed by Labor Code section 204. (Lab. Code § 204, subd. (a) ["All wages, other than those mentioned in Section 201, 201.3, 202, 204.1, or 204.2, earned by any person in any employment are due and payable twice during each calendar month, on days designated in advance by the employer as the regular paydays."].) The Legislature has also placed strict timing requirements for payment of such wages during an ongoing relationship (discussed above). (*Ibid.*)

Based on this statutory scheme, the Legislature clearly distinguishes between employees whose employment relationship has ended and those who have an ongoing relationship. Melendez's claim for implied temporary layoffs, while maintaining an ongoing employment relationship, seeks to impose obligations that do not comport with the Legislature's statutory scheme. Indeed, Melendez's claim blurs the lines between these two distinct schemes and brings them into conflict with each other.

2. The legislative history for Labor Code sections 201 to 204 also contradicts Melendez's proposed expansion of the law

The legislative history for Labor Code sections 201 to 204 confirms that, from inception, the Legislature contemplated a dichotomy between workers whose employment had ended and those whose employment was ongoing. As noted in *Smith*, the Legislature first enacted an "immediate wage payment" provision, similar to Labor Code section 201, in 1911. (*Smith*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 86–87 & n.4 [citing Stats. 1911, ch. 663, § 1, p. 1268].) Besides section one, which was the predecessor to Labor Code sections 201 and 202, the 1911 act also contained the predecessor to Labor Code section 204: "All wages other than those mentioned in section

one of this act earned by any person during any one month shall become due and payable at least once in each month" (Stats. 1911, ch. 663., § 2, pp. 1268–1269.)

The Legislature amended the statute in 1915 to adopt a civil penalty (the precursor to Labor Code section 203). (See *Smith*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 87, fn. 4.) The penalty only applied where an employee was terminated or resigned. (Stats. 1915, ch. 143, § 1, p. 299.) At the same time, the Legislature enacted a statute providing for detailed timing requirements for payment of wages to ongoing employees, which are the same timing requirements now found in Labor Code section 204. (Stats. 1915, ch. 657, § 1, pp. 1292–1293.)¹³

In other words, from the outset, when enacting timely wage payment and the related penalty policies, the Legislature contemplated different protections to employees based on whether the employment relationship was ongoing or had ended.¹⁴

There should be enactment of suitable legislation providing for regular monthly settlement or payment of wage accounts by employers of labor on such certain specified days within the month and upon a date not later than may be fixed by the enactment, and to apply to all classes of labor. In other

¹³ In 1919, the Legislature repealed the existing law but adopted essentially the same provisions and harmonized both 1915 statutes into a single act. (*Smith, supra,* 39 Cal.4th at p. 87, fn. 4.) Later, in 1937, when the Legislature established the Labor Code, the 1919 provision requiring immediate payment upon discharge was adopted as section 201, the provision requiring immediate payment upon quitting was adopted as Labor Code section 202, and the provision requiring semi-monthly pay days was adopted as Labor Code section 204. (*Ibid.*; Stats. 1937, ch. 90, p. 197.)

¹⁴ This dichotomy is confirmed by reference to the biennial report published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) in 1910, and cited by this Court in *Smith* as the impetus for Labor Code section 201. (*Smith*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 87, citing BLS, 14th Biennial Rep.: 1909–1910 (1910).) That BLS report discussed the equal need for wage-related legislation for employment that was ongoing and ending:

The legislative history of sections 201 and 203 confirms that the *end* of the employment relationship—whether by discharge, resignation, or conclusion of a pre-established assignment/time period—is the trigger for payment of final wages. Timely payment of wages for ongoing employees was governed by a separate scheme, now described in section 204. Melendez's proposal to pay immediate final wages for automatic temporary layoffs during ongoing employment directly contradicts this legislative history.

3. Melendez's public policy arguments do not support his proposed expansion of law, and his attempt to redefine "discharge" is an artificial solution to a problem that does not exist

To support his novel theory that temporary layoffs during an ongoing working relationship require payment of final wages, Melendez repeatedly mischaracterizes the facts, issues, and policies involved in this case. Melendez argues that his new theory is needed, among other things, to: (1) prevent the Giants and the Union from "contracting around" statutory protections; (2) ensure that the Labor Code protects him and the proposed class members; and (3) ensure that men and women, who are out of work and without pay for months, receive their wages for life's necessities. None of those policy concerns, however laudable, is implicated by this case.

words, a date limitation for the payment or settlement of wages due for the thirty days next preceding. A reasonable provision should be made for the *immediate payment* following dismissal of an employee, or at the conclusion of specified employment.

⁽BLS, 14th Biennial Rep.: 1909-1910 (1910), at p. 43 [emphasis added].)

First, the Giants and the Union (Melendez's own representative) do not now, and have never, sought to "contract around" the Labor Code's protections. Nor does this case involve "waiving" statutory protections by private agreement. The Giants do not dispute that if Melendez ever is discharged, he will be entitled to his final wages under section 201. The Giants only dispute they have discharged Melendez. And because the employment relationship is fundamentally contractual, and Smith links such contractual discharge to the terms of employment for which an employee is hired, whether Melendez was ever discharged due to a fixed duration of his employment coming to its natural conclusion must be determined by examining the terms of the parties' employment agreement—here, the CBA. (Guz, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 335–336, quoting Foley v. Interactive Data Corp. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 654, 696; cf. Shapiro v. Wells Fargo Realty Advisors (1984) 152 Cal. App. 3d 467, 482 ["there cannot be a valid express contract and an implied contract, each embracing the same subject, but requiring different results"].)

Second, this case is not about a (false) choice between Melendez (and proposed class members) being protected by the Labor Code or not. This is a case about which Labor Code protections apply. As discussed at length above, in Labor Code section 204, the Legislature has established a detailed scheme for the timely payment of wages to employees who have an ongoing working relationship with their employers. Those protections entitle Melendez to semi-monthly wage payments and strict time limitations for payment of wages, and Melendez does not dispute having received these protections from the inception of his employment with the Giants in 2005. (Labor Code § 204; see also *In re Application of Moffett* (1937) 19 Cal.App.2d 7, 13–14 [Labor Code section 204, and its predecessors, have required "an employer of labor who comes within its terms to maintain two regular pay days each month, ... within the dates

required in that section."].) When employees, like Melendez, have an ongoing employment relationship, the Legislature has determined that the public policy in favor of full and prompt payment of wages is best served by satisfying the requirements of Labor Code section 204. Requiring final pay under Labor Code section 201 while Melendez maintains an ongoing working relationship with the Giants runs counter to more than 100 years of consistent legislation.

Finally, Melendez repeatedly suggests that his novel theory of discharge is needed to protect workers who have been out of work for months, and who need their unpaid wages to secure life's necessities. Those facts are not present here. The evidence shows Melendez worked in every pay period in 2015, as well as every pay period in 2016 leading to the filing of this lawsuit. Clearly, Melendez has not been out of work, even for weeks. Nor has Melendez ever disputed that the Giants have paid him and the other security guards all wages for work performed in a pay period on the regularly established payday for that pay period (twice a month and no more than 10 days in arrears as required by Labor Code section 204). Unlike Smith, this case is not about whether an employee will have to wait months after her employment ends to get paid—it is about whether employees with ongoing relationships are paid on regular pay day or a few days earlier after a non-existent "layoff." Lastly, even if (arguendo) there might be a security guard who does not schedule work with the Giants for an extended period, no wages would be outstanding to him during that time: the employee would have been paid all wages on his regular payday long before, as Labor Code section 204 requires.

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